OM1	622
IN THE	SUPREME COURT OF	1467 26 1992
LEE ROBERTSON HAYLES,	:	CLERK, SUPREME COURT.
Petitioner,	:	
v.	:	CASE NO. 79,743
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
Respondent.	:	
	:	(

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEPENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR #0513253 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING PETI-TIONER USING A CATEGORY 1, RATHER THAN A CATEGORY 9, SCORESHEET.

At its heart, this case involves how to resolve two arguably conflicting pronouncements in Rule **3.701(c)**, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, and its committee note.

Petitioner Lee Hayles pleaded no contest to two counts of the inchoate offense of solicitation to first-degree murder. This offense is defined in sections 782.04(1)(a) (first-degree murder) and 777.04 (attempts, solicitation, conspiracy, generally), Florida Statutes. Hayles was sentenced to the top of the permitted range, 17 years in prison, using a Category 1 scoresheet, He had no prior criminal record.

Rule **3.701(c)**, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides in part:

Offense Categories. Offenses have been
grouped into nine (9) offense categories
encompassing the following statutes:
 Category 1: Murder, manslaughter:
Chapter 782 [except subsection 782.04(1)(a)], and subsection 316.193(3)(c)3, and
section 327.351(2)
 Category 9: All other felony offenses

The Committee Note to subsection (c) provides, without change since the inception of the guidelines:

Only one category is proper in any particular case. Category 9, "All Other Felony Offenses," should be used only when the primary offense at conviction is not included in another, more specific category. The guidelines do not apply to capital felonies. Inchoate offenses are included within the category of the offense attempted, solicited, or conspired to, as modified by ch. 777.

In other words, as an offense under section 782.04(1)(a), attempted first-degree murder is expressly excluded from Category 1 of the guidelines by Rule 3.701(c), but **as** an attempt, it is arguably included in Category 1 by the committee note. So, which is it? That is the question here.

In <u>Tarawneh v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), <u>review denied</u> no. 79,195 (Fla. Feb. 17, 1992), the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that, because Rule 3.701(c) expressly excludes offenses under section 782.04(1)(a) from Category 1, it was improper to use a Category 1 scoresheet in sentencing Tarawneh, who was convicted of solicitation and conspiracy to commit first-degree murder. Instead, the Fourth District held, a Category 9 (the residual category) scoresheet should have been used. In the instant case, had a Category 9 scoresheet been used, petitioner's presumptive sentence would be reduced from 12 to 17 years, to 3-1/2 to 4-1/2 years, with a permitted range up to 5-1/2 years.

In the opinion here, the First District reached a contrary result. <u>Hayles v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 17 FLW D960 (Fla. 1st DCA April 13, 1992) (on motion for rehearing or to certify question). The Fifth District has agreed with the First. <u>See</u> <u>Orr v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 17 FLW D866 (Fla. 5th DCA April 3, 1992) (on motion for rehearing).

-5-

Petitioner concedes that <u>Tarawneh</u> is not as clear as it could be. Having said that, petitioner believes the <u>Hayles</u> opinion either misstates the holding of <u>Tarawneh</u>, or the holding of <u>Tarawneh</u> was not as narrow as it should have been. The First District said:

The Fourth District cited Committee Note (c), <u>supra</u>, as support for its conclusion that category 1 was not applicable. The note, however, on its face, seems to indicate that the guidelines would not apply at all to capital felonies.

17 FLW at D960. Petitioner believes the exclusion of capital felonies to which <u>Tarawneh</u> refers is not from the committee note, but rather, is actually the exclusion from Rule 3.701(c) itself. The rule itself lists the offenses included in the various categories and <u>expressly excludes</u> offenses under **sec**-tion 782.04(1)(a) from Category 1. The opinion in <u>Tarawneh</u> is not perfectly clear. If it relied on the committee note rather than **the** rule itself, it is in error on this paint.

The First District continued thus:

The <u>Tarawneh</u> court concluded, in light of the requirement that inchoate offenses are included within the category of the offense attempted [sic], that solicitation to commit first degree murder would be excluded from category 1, since first degree murder is itself excluded from category 1.

Hayles, 17 FLW at D960. According to the First,

(t)his analysis somewhat begs the question of how, if capital murder is excluded altogether from the guidelines, and therefore solicitation to commit capital murder is also excluded, the trial court can be required to sentence under **a** different category of the very guidelines from which the defendant's crime, according to <u>Tarawneh</u>, has been excluded.

Id.

Petitioner believes the First District's erroneous reasoning derives from failing to differentiate between the rule and the committee note, or to acknowledge the significance of express exclusion. The rule itself excludes offenses under section 782.04(1)(a) only from Category 1, not from the guidelines altogether. The committee note excludes capital murder from the guidelines altogether. But, as this case shows, there exist offenses under section 782.04(1)(a) - thus expressly excluded from Category 1 - which, because they are not capital felonies, are not excluded from the guidelines by the committee Under this circumstance, such an offense is reasonably note. sentenced under the residual category. There is of course another capital offense - capital sexual battery - which is necessarily excluded from the guidelines (by the committee note if nothing else), whose statute number is not excluded from the "offense categories" by the **text** of Rule 3,701(c).

There is the further problem of the committee note pronouncement that inchoate offenses are within the category of the offense attempted, solicited, or conspired to. The answer to this purported dilemma is simply that this general "rule" cannot defeat the specific exclusion of all section **782.04**-(1)(a) offenses from Category 1. See, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Fletcher v. Flet-</u> <u>cher</u>, 573 **So.2d 941 (Fla.** 1st DCA 1991) (where there is a

-7-

general and a specific provision in the same statute, the particular provision will prevail).

The key to resolving the issue here is how to construe the rule. It is axiomatic that penal statutes must be strictly Reino v. State, 352 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1977). construed. See also State v. Waters, 436 So.2d 66 (Fla. 1983); Ferguson v. State, 377 So.2d 709 (Fla. 1979); Earnest v. State, 351 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1977). But, how are the sentencing guidelines to be construed? The rules of criminal procedure themselves provide that they "shall be construed to secure simplicity in procedure and fairness in administration." Rule 3.020, Fla, R, Crim, P, This pronouncement might be useful in a procedural context, but the guidelines are not merely a procedural matter. Further, either construction - included or excluded from Category 1 - is "simple," although both are not necessarily fair. So, Rule 3.020 does not answer the question here.

In section 921.0015, Florida Statutes, the legislature adopted Rules 3.701 and **3.988 as** substantive law. This means these rules must be construed in the same way **a** sentencing statute would be, that is, strictly construed. The **U.S.** Supreme Court has held, unanimously, that retroactive application of a disadvantageous change to the Florida sentencing guidelines violated the ex post facto clause of the U.S. Constitution. <u>Miller v. Florida</u>, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S.Ct. 2446, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987). The Supreme Court expressly rejected the state's argument that a change to the sentencing guidelines was merely procedural. **482** U.S. at 433-35, 96 L.Ed.2d at 362-63.

-a-

A few years after <u>Miller</u>, this court squarely addressed the question whether the guidelines were procedural or substantive in holding the sentencing guidelines were invalid until they were adopted by the legislature July 1, **1984**. <u>Smith v.</u> State, **537** So.2d **982** (Fla. **1989**). This court said:

> In the final analysis, we are compelled to conclude that the sentencing guidelines, insofar as they limit the length of sentences to be imposed, are substantive in nature. (footnote omitted)

537 So.2d at 986. <u>See also Ray v. State</u>, 556 So.2d 495, 497 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review dism.</u> 560 So.2d 234 (Fla. 1990), in which the First District said:

...when the Legislature adopted the revisions to Rule 3.701(d)(13) and the committee note thereto...these changes acquired the force and effect of law.

As for the status of committee notes, in <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Evans v. Chappel</u>, 308 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1975), this court said that "(a) though Committee Notes are generally **a** valuable aid in the application of the (criminal) rules, they are not binding." <u>See also Putt v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 914 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). It is true that <u>Chappel</u> involved a rule in which this court had expressly declined to adopt the committee notes, but the committee notes in <u>Putt</u> had been adapted by the court. On the other hand, this court has also held that committee notes on the guidelines rules have the same force and effect **as** the rules themselves. <u>The Florida Bar, Amendment to Rules of Criminal Procedure (3.701, 3.988 - Sentencing Guidelines)</u>, 451 So.-2d 824 (Fla. 1984). Even if committee notes have the same

-9-

force and effect as the rules, however, that principle cannot overcome the express exclusion of section 782.04(1)(a) offenses from Category 1. See Fletcher, supra.

The rule of lenity is an independent ground for reversal, In <u>Lewis v. State</u>, **574** So.2d 245 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), <u>aff'd on</u> <u>other grounds State v. Worley</u>, 586 So.2d **338** (Fla. **1991)**, the Second District held that the rule of lenity applied to the guidelines. <u>Lewis</u> concerned the issue whether legal constraint could be **scored** more than once. This issue was the basis for jurisdiction in the supreme court, where this court affirmed on the basis of its decision in <u>Flowers v. State</u>, 586 **So.2d 1058** (**Fla. 1991**).

The Second District said:

[Rules] 3.701 and 3.988, do not require the use of a multiplier. Nor do they contain language susceptible of a different construction. Even assuming ambiguity in the rules as to scoring legal constraint, the rule of lenity would bar the use of a mul-Section 775.021(1), Florida Statiplier. tutes (1988), provides: "[t]he provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statute shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused." We construe this statute **as** applying to the sentencing guidelines rules.

Lewis, 574 So.2d at 246, citing <u>Williams v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 453, 454 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) (adopting rules of lenity in resolving an ambiguity in the application of the guidelines to a true split sentence); SS921.001 and 921.0015, Fla.Stat. Even if there were an ambiguity here, the rule of lenity requires that the construction most favorable to the accused be upheld. After criticizing the <u>Tarawneh</u> opinion, the First District in <u>Hayles</u> launched into a justification for its holding. This discussion was to the effect that only completed offenses under section 782.04(1)(a) are excluded from the guidelines, and that is only because there is a mandatory sentence for completed capital crimes. (To remind the court, there is another capital offense - capital sexual battery - which is excluded from the guidelines, although its statute number is not expressly listed in rule 3.701(c) as excluded. This means that, while Category 1 excludes all section 782.04(1)(a) offenses, not all section 782.04(1)(a) offenses are capital, and while the committee note excludes capital offenses, the capital exclusion encompasses more than section 782.04(1)(a) offenses.)

Even though the scheme proposed by the First, that only completed capital felonies are excluded from the guidelines, might make sense, and even though it may be what the guidelines commission intended, it is not, in fact, what the rule **says**.

Rather, the rule expressly excludes from Category 1 all offenses under section 782.04(1)(a). For any court to exclude only completed offenses under section 782.04(1)(a) would be adding something to the rule which it does not **in** fact contain. **A** rule concerning the guidelines must be strictly construed. Its committee note may be viewed as secondary, or the general provision of the committee note may be viewed as not overcoming a specific, express exclusion. The rule specifically excludes section 782.04(1)(a) offenses. Section 782.04(1)(a) defines a substantive offense: the crime of solicitation does not exist

-11-

without an underlying substantive offense, thus the substantive offense takes precedence over an inchoate offense. By any route, section 782.04(1)(a) offenses are excluded from Category 1.

In <u>Putt</u>, the Third District reported this court **as** having held "that the guidelines must be read as they are written." **527** So.2d at 915, citing <u>State v. Van Kooten</u>, 522 So.2d 830 (Fla. 1988). This court did not actually **say** that in Van <u>Kooten</u>, although it **was** reasonably inferable. What this court did say **was**:

> The guideline clearly states that the appropriate sentence **was** community control or incarceration, <u>Any change</u> in that presumptive guideline <u>must occur through ap-</u> <u>propriate legislative and court rule ac-</u> <u>tion, rather than by judicial construction</u>. (emphasis added)

522 So.2d at 831. The First District erred in rewriting the rule to suit its interpretation, even though its interpretation might be reasonable. This court must reverse.

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, petitioner requests that this court reverse his sentence and remand for resentencing using a Category 9 scaresheet.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER Fla. Bar No. 0513253 Assistant Public Defender Leon County Courthouse 301 S. Monroe - 4th Floor North Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER