IN TH	E SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA	FILED/// SIDJ. WHITE UN 15 1992 CLERK SUPREME COURTE By Chief Deputy Clerk
LEE ROBERTSON HAYLES,		$\backslash$
Petitioner,		$\backslash$
vs.	CASE NO. 79,743	$\backslash$
STATE OF <b>florida</b> ,		

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Respondent.

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 904/488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state supplements with the following. The intended victims were the estranged wife of petitioner, who had announced her intention to divorce petitioner well prior to the crimes here, and her alleged boyfriend. R188. The circumstances surrounding the crimes are in the PSI at R225-226 and show that the petitioner's plan to commit the two murders was welladvanced, reaching the point where partial payment had been made to the undercover police officer hired to commit the murders.

At the plea hearing on 30 January 1991, counsel for petitioner (Beroset) began the hearing with the following uncontradicted representation to the court:

> MR. BEROSET: Your Honor, we believe we have worked out a plea agreement with Hayles and we've discussed it Mr. thoroughly in court. He had some reservation on prior occasions. I would like to take time to go over the plea agreement, if I could. Your Honor, he's going to plead nolo contendere to the courts as charged, two counts of solicitation for first degree murder. We've discussed with Mr. Hayles that the guidelines in this would be 12 to 17 years, that the permitted is 7 to 22, and if there was any reason to exceed, the Court could go to maximum punishment to 30 years on each count. The State has tendered to us **a** plea agreement for The State this plea of nolo contendere. That indicates that the State will not request a sentencing guideline departure or that the defendant will be sentenced in a permitted range. In other words, they will not request it --

R162

Thereafter, the following colloquy occurred:

MS. NEEL [Prosecutor]: He'll be sentenced in the recommended and not the permitted.

MR, BEROSET: Right, He will be sentenced in the recommended range, but if the Court concludes that probation or community control is necessary, the Court can impose that above the permitted range. In other words, he would receive a sentence within recommended range of 12 to 17. **the** The State is going to argue for probation in addition to it, we can argue for the lower end of the sentence and no probation, and that's our understanding of the agreement.

MS. NEEL: Right, because the State will be arguing for probation to be following it.

MR. BEROSET: This is a copy of the plea agreement that's been signed. We've gone over the rights with Mr. Hayles and talked to him about this.

THE COURT: Mr. Hayles, Have you read the agreement? I know you have signed it. And you have given up certain rights by entering the plea. You have given up your right to appeal, first of all. You've given up your right to a trial and appeal. You understand that, don't you?

#### THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: And it's my understanding from what Mr. Beroset said, that basically the agreement provides that vou'll be sentenced within the recommended range, which is 12 to 17 years in state prison. The State is going to argue for the 17, of course. They are going to make an argument for The State is going to also ask the 12. for an additional probation over and above that which the defense is going to argue that it's not necessary, and those type of things will be left up to me. We're not going to handle it today, I would assume, because we're not going to have time.

MR. BEROSET: That's correct. We want to have a PSI and we want to present letters of character reference, and so on.

THE COURT: Is that what your understanding of it is?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I understand, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That's what you want to do?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

R162-164.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The Court should approve the district court below and disapprove <u>Tarawneh</u>, infra.

2. There was no right to appeal the sentence or plea under the circumstances of the case here. Ford, infra, should be disapproved and Robinson, infra, reiterated.

### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

DID THE PARTIES, THE TRI L COURT, ND COURT BELOW THEDISTRICT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT SOLICITATION TO COMMIT FIRST DEGREE MURDER SHOULD BE SCORED USING Α CATEGORY ONE GUIDELINES SCORESHEET FOR MURDER AND MANSLAUGHTER?

This case is before this Court to resolve conflict of decisions between the district court below and <u>Tarawneh v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), <u>rev. denied</u>, no. 79,195 (Fla. Feb. 17 1992). The arguments below on whether category one or nine scorssheets were appropriate are basically the same as those here. Because the 1st DCA below adapted the state's view in its analysis of the issue and the fallacy of the <u>Tarawneh</u> decision, and because that analysis is both cogent and short, the state will rely on that analysis with very brief comments.

> Appellant pled no contest to an information charging two counts of solicitation of first degree murder in violation of section 777.04(2) and 782.04, Florida Statutes (1989). The trial court adjudged Hayles guilty and sentenced him to a term of 17 years followed by imprisonment 13 years probation. In deriving the sentence, the trial court utilized a category 1 scoresheet. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(a). Appellant, relying upon Tarawneh v. State, 16 F.L.W. D2510 (Fla, 4th **DCA** Sept. 25, 1991), urges error in the trial court's use of this scoresheet in determining a guidelines sentence.

> Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.701(c) requires the use of a category 1 scoresheet for the following offenses: "Murder, manslaughter: Chapter 782 [except subsection 782.04(1)(a)], and subsection 316.193(3)(c)3, and section 327.351(2)." Committee Note (c) to the rule provides: "The guidelines do not

apply to capital felonies. Inchoate offenses are included within the category of the offense attempted, solicited, or conspired to, as modified by Ch. 777." In <u>Tarawneh</u> the Fourth District concluded that, given the text of the rule and the committee note, it improper to use a category was 1 scoresheet in sentencing a defendant convicted of solicitation to commit first degree murder. We must disagree with that conclusion.

In Tarawneh our sister court held that, under similar circumstances, the trial court should have used a category 9 scoresheet. Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(c), category 9 is used for any felony offense not otherwise classified into a specific offense category. The Fourth District cited Committee Note (c), <u>supra</u>, as support for its conclusion that category was not applicable. 1 The note, however, on its face, seems to indicate that the guidelines would not apply at all to capital felonies. The Tarawneh court concluded, in light of the requirement that inchoate offenses are included within the category of the offense attempted, that solicitation to commit first degree murder would be excluded from category 1, since first degree murder is itself excluded from category 1. This analysis somewhat begs the question of how, if capital murder excluded altogether from is the guidelines, and therefore solicitation to commit capital murder is also excluded, the trial court can be required to sentence under a different category of the very guidelines from which the defendant's crime, according to Tarawneh, has been excluded.

The reason for excluding first degree murder (§ 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1989) from the sentencing guidelines is apparent. The only available sentences upon conviction of first degree murder are death or life without possibility of parole for 25 years. § 775.082, Fla. Stat. (1989). It would thus make no sense to utilize a

sentencing guideline in the instance of a capital felony. Hayles was not, however, convicted of a capital felony. One guilty of attempting or soliciting the commission of a capital felony is guilty of a felony of the first degree. 777.04(4)(a), Fla. Stat. S (1989).Accordingly, the trial court properly adjudicated Hayles guilty of two first degree felonies, each falling under the classification of offenses included in category 1 of the sentencing guidelines. Hayles' score of 165 resulted in a recommended range of sentencing under the guidelines of 12 to 17 years. The sentence is this case was, thus, appropriate. 1

We hold that the trial court in the present case properly utilized a category 1 scoresheet in sentencing a defendant convicted of solicitation to commit first degree murder. 2

<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, we certify conflict with the Fourth District.

2

If the underlying premise of Tarawneh is correct, i.e. that solicitation to commit first degree murder is excluded from the guidelines, then the trial court in the present case, rather than required to utilize category 9, being would be entitled to give а to nonguidelines sentence, up the maximum penalty allowed by law, for two The resulting first degree felonies. sentence could clearly be harsher than the sentence contemplated by category 1 of the guidelines. We would suggest that such a result is not warranted for at least two reasons. First, the quidelines expressly exclude only capital felonies, and not attempt to commit or solicitation to commit a capital felony. The second and related reason is that the legislature has specifically decreed that the sentencing quidelines shall be applied to all except capital felonies, felonies, committed after the effective date of the guidelines. § 921.001, Fla. Stat.

(1989). The legislature does know, however, how to exclude a particular crime, other than a capital felony, from the guidelines. See § 775.0825, Fla. Stat. (1989) (any person convicted of attempted murder of a law enforcement officer shall be required to serve no less than 25 years before becoming eligible for parole, and such sentence shall not be subject to the sentencing guidelines.

Two of the court'spoints deserve emphasis. First, solicitation to commit first degree murder is not a capital felony under sections 782.04(1)(a) and 921.141, Florida Statutes, and, thus, is not excludible from the sentencing guidelines. §921.001(4)(a), Fla. Stat. The Tarawneh reading of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701c and the Committee Note creates an entirely unnecessary and absurd conflict with sections 782.04(1)(a) and 921.141 by treating a solicitation or attempt as a capital felony. The settled rule that statutes should be interpreted to avoid unnecessary conflict and absurd results needs no citation. Second, as the district court below noted, the Tarawneh rule also creates the absurd result that a solicitation or attempt to commit lesser degrees of murder or manslaughter would receive more severe penalties than attempted first degree murder. Finally, the state adds to the court's analysis that the sentencing guidelines are constructed on the theory that the most severe penalty should be imposed when faced with potential options. See the rule for preparing and selecting alternative primary offenses, rule 3.701d3b): "The guidelines scoresheet which recommends the most severe sentence range shall be the scoresheet to be utilized by the sentencing judge pursuant

- 8 -

to guidelines." (e.s.). This approach is correct because **the** defendant, who was presumptively innocent for the purposes of interpreting ambiguous guilt statutes, has now become **a** criminal convicted beyond **a** reasonable doubt. The balance now is between the guilty criminal and innocent victims, whether society in general or specific individual victims, Under these circumstances, the legislature has mandated that sentencing *statutes* be applied so **as** to impose the most severe punishment available. To put it another way, real or imagined ambiguity no longer favors the defendant/criminal, it now favors the state. In the same vein see the controlling and exceptionally explicit statement of the legislative intent behind sentencing statutes, "[t]he primary purpose of sentencing is to punish the offender ... [everything else is subordinate]."

This Court should approve the decision below and disapprove <u>Tarawneh</u>.

#### ISSUE II

## IS THERE ANY JURISDICTIONAL BASIS FOR APPEALING A PRIMA FACIE LEGAL SENTENCE WHICH DOES NOT DEPART FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES, AS HERE?

Following entry of the unreserved plea which included an agreement on sentencing, petitioner filed a pro se notice of appeal. R264. His trial counsel moved to withdraw, explaining that they had not been further retained, did not believe there was any justiciable issue for appeal, and that the appeal notice had been filed pursuant to the client's instructions. R269-271. The state's subsequent motions to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction were denied by the district court on the authority of Ford v. State, 575 So 2d 1335 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 581 So.2d 1318 (Fla. 1991), on the urging of appellate counsel even though appellate counsel filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 429 (1967) acknowledging that there were no arguable issues pursuant to Robinson v. State, 373 \$0.2d 898 (Fla, 1979). Later, after petitioner failed to file a pro se Anders brief and Tarawneh issued, petitioner's appellate counsel was permitted to file a supplemental brief which ultimately resulted in discretionary review here.

Robinson, and other settled law, recognizes that jurisdiction is always at issue and the state again asserts that there was no jurisdictional authority for review in the district court below pursuant to section 924.06, Florida Statutes (1989) and this Court's decision in Robinson.

It is settled law that there is no right to appeal criminal judgments, death penalties aside, under either the Florida or

United States Constitutions. <u>Ross v. Moffitt</u>, 417 U.S. 600, 611 (1974); <u>Abney v. United States</u>, 431 U.S. 651, 656 (1977); <u>Evitts</u> <u>v. Lucey</u>, 469 U.S. 387, 393 (1985); and <u>McKane v. Durston</u>, 153 U.S. 684, 687 (1894). As this Court held in <u>State v. Creighton</u>, 469 So.2d 735, 739 (Fla. 1985), nothing in the Florida or United States Constitutions, possibly excepting death penalty appeals, grants "an aggrieved litigant" the right to an appeal. However, the Court pointed out at footnote 8, page 740, "Florida grants such an appeal as a matter of right in section 924.06, Florida Statutes (1983)."

Under section 924.06(1)(d) & (e), criminal defendants are authorized to appeal sentences which are either illegal or outside the range recommended by the sentencing guidelines. In interpreting and upholding the constitutionality of section 924.06(3), which restricts the right to appeal following guilty or unreserved nolo pleas, this Court held that a defendant who pled guilty [or nolo without reservation] could nevertheless appeal an illegal sentence. Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979). In other words, such pleas on guilt did not waive the statutory right under section 924.06(1)(d), Florida Statutes (1979) to appeal an illegal sentence. That 1979 holding, prior to the sentencing guidelines, would now expand to encompass the right to appeal departures from the sentencing guidelines pursuant to section 924.06(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1983 and thereafter). However, neither Robinson nor the statute create a general right to appeal all sentences: the statute because it specifically identifies only two grounds for appealing a

- 11 -

sentence, thus excluding all others, and <u>Robinson</u> because it merely preserves whatever statutory rights may otherwise exist while expressly warning that "[t]here is no [statutory] authority to seek an appellate review upon unknown or unidentified grounds, and it is improper to appeal on grounds known to be nonappealable." <u>Robinson</u>, 373 So.2d at 903.

Jurisdiction may, as <u>Robinson</u> recognized, be raised at anytime. But, as <u>Robinson</u> held, there is no right to a general review of a plea:

> Furthermore, we find that an appeal from a guilty plea should never be a substitute for a motion to withdraw a plea. If the record raises issues concerning the voluntary or intelligent character of the plea, that issue should first be presented to the trial court in accordance with the law and standards pertaining to a motion to withdraw a plea. If the action of the trial court on such motion were adverse to the defendant, it would be subject to review on direct appeal. The standards for the withdrawal of a guilty plea both before and after sentence were discussed in detail in Williams v. State, 316 267 (Fla.1975). sentence is So.2d After imposed, the burden is on the defendant to prove that a manifest injustice has occurred. Williams v. State; ABA Standards Relating to the Administration of Criminal Justice, Plea5 of Guilty, 14-2.1 (1979). To adopt the view asserted by the appellant in this case would in effect eliminate both the necessity for a defendant to move for a withdrawal of hi5 plea and the obligation to show a manifest injustice or prejudice as grounds for such a plea withdrawal after sentence. Robinson, 373 So.2d at 902-903.

Finally, before specifically examining the petitioner's right to appeal here, the state points out that there is no right to raise an ineffectiveness of trial counsel claim on direct appeal, with rare exceptions which are not present here. State <u>v. Barber</u>, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974); <u>Adams v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 888 (Fla. 1984); <u>Kelley v. State</u>, 486 So.2d 578 (Fla. 1986).

Applying the above settled law, it is readily apparent that there was no jurisdictional basis for the appeal to the district court. Section 924.06(1) authorizes appeals from guidelines departures and illegal sentences. As shown by the state's supplementation of the colloquy surrounding the plea bargain at R162-164, the parties bargained for and flatly agreed that petitioner could be subject to a term of imprisonment of up to 17 years under the written plea bargain **as** accepted by the trial Pursuant to this Court's decisions in Holland v. State, court. 508 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1987), Quarterman v. State, 527 So.2d 1380 (Fla. 1988), and Smith v. State, 530 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1988), regardless of the guidelines scoresheet range, parties may agree to any legal sentence. It is uncontroverted that petitioner pled to felonies of the first degree, section 777.04(4)(a), each punishable by a term of imprisonment of up to 30 years, section  $775.082(3)(b)^{1}$  . It cannot be seriously suggested that a plea bargain sentence which falls within the statutorily authorized maximum is either illegal or a departure from the sentencing quidelines. Holland, Quarterman, Smith, State v. MacLeod, 583 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), affirmed, 17 F.L.W. S260 (Fla. April 30, 1992), petition for rehearing/clarification pending, Rouse v. State, case no. 91-991 (Fla. 1st DCA June 9, 1992). See also, Judge v. State, 17 F.L.W. D835 (Fla. 2d DCA March 20, 1992)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> If petitioner successfully overturns this plea bargain, he may well find on trial and resentencing that the plea bargain, **as** his trial attorneys obviously believed, was advantageous.

where the en banc court examined in depth the meaning of "illegal" sentence.

Even though there is no jurisdictional ba is f r appealing the sentence itself, Robinson recognizes that there is a right to challenge the "voluntary and intelligent character of the plea." Robinson, 373 So.2d at 902. This right exists because it goes to the validity of the plea and conviction but, as this Court quickly pointed out in the extended quote above at 902-903, this fact-bound question must first be raised with the trial court by a motion to withdraw the plea and, as necessary, from an appeal denial of the motion to withdraw the plea. of the Looking at the true nature of petitioner's argument here and in the district court, it is actually grounded on a purported misunderstanding by both parties and the trial court of the plea bargain into which the parties entered and the trial court accepted. The remedy for that, should petitioner truly want to withdraw from the bargain, is to file a motion to withdraw in the trial court and appeal therefrom as appropriate. There is no statutory basis for an appeal of the plea in the current posture of the case, as Robinson so explicitly holds<sup>2</sup>.

The above analysis shows that the district court's interpretation of <u>Robinson</u> in its <u>Ford</u> decision, and its application here and elsewhere, is erroneous in at least four respects. First, Robinson does not create a general right to

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Conceivably, petitioner might raise a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel by a rule 3.850 motion but there is no basis on the facts here to raise such claim on direct appeal. Barber, Adams, Kelley.

appeal sentences merely because they are imposed following entry of a guilty or unreserved nolo plea. Instead, it preserves the statutory rights in section 924.06(1) to appeal sentences on the grounds of illegality or departure from the sentencing guidelines. Second, in the same vein, contrary to the Ford approach that an appeal should be entered in order for appellate counsel to search for issues:

> There is clearly no authority to seek an appellate review upon unknown or unidentified grounds, and it is improper to appeal on grounds known to be nonappealable. The appeal is clearly not from any identified error which occurred contemporaneously with the plea, and the district court was justified in granting the motion to dismiss. Robinson, 373 So.2d at 903.

Third, nothing in Robinson abrogates the settled rule that issues and arguments are not cognizable for the first time on appeal if they have not been raised below. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Even if there is a right to appeal, issues and arguments must still be preserved and a party may not, as petitioner did in the district court, claim for the first time that a voluntary plea bargain was illegal or erroneous. Fourth, sentences are illegal only if they depart from statutorily mandated maximum or minimum sentences. Holland, Ouarterman, Smith. A departure from the sentencing guidelines may be erroneous but it does not render the sentence illegal. In this connection, note that Robinson issued in 1979, before the sentencing guidelines were adopted and before the legislature granted a right to appeal from departure sentences in subsection 924.06(1)(e). Treating an erroneous departure sentence as

- 15 -

illegal renders the legislative adoption of subsection 924.06(1)(e), and the same right in section 921.001(5), a useless act.

The state urges the Court to hold that there is no right to appeal from a prima facie legal sentence which does not depart from the range prescribed by the sentencing guidelines scoresheet. Here, where the prima facie legal Sentence was imposed pursuant to a plea bargain there was no right to appeal the sentence or the plea bargain until **a** motion to withdraw the plea had been filed and denied.

### CONCLUSION

1. On the conflict question, the Court should disapprove Tarawneh.

2. The Court should hold that <u>Ford</u> conflicts with <u>Robinson</u>, and is disapproved for the reasons, and as set forth, above.